IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 1999-153

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

ANGELO JULIANO,

Respondent,

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

JAN 0 3 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

VERNIS & BOWLING OF THE FLORIDA KEYS, P.A. P.O. Drawer 529 Islamorada, FL 33036 (305) 664-4675

#

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

DOT seeks review of a Third District Court decision which held that DOT was precluded from raising any aspect of the workers' compensation law, because that court denied an interlocutory appeal based on the "unrelated works" exception to workers' compensation immunity. This Court has jurisdiction

<sup>2</sup> DOT also raised this same issue in its motions for directed verdict, and in its request for a jury instruction on the higher standard of negligence applicable to supervisors. The trial court also denied these motions.

because this decision expressly and directly conflicts with and misapplies the rule announced in this Court's decision in U.S. Concrete Pipe Co. v. Bould, and the Second District's decision in Two M Dev. Corp. v. Mikos.

This Court should exercise its jurisdiction because the Third District's decision highlights the conflict in Florida law on the proper scope of law of the case and res judicata. Also, this case presents the first opportunity for this Court to interpret § 440.11(1) relating to fellow-employees acting in a "managerial or policymaking capacity."

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THIS COURT HAS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE SECOND DISTRICT.

The Third District held that an employer was precluded from raising any aspect of workers' compensation immunity because the employer unsuccessfully challenged the applicability of the "unrelated works" exception on interlocutory appeal. Florida

Dept. of Transp. v. Juliano, Slip op., No. 98-267 ("Juliano II").

This decision expressly and directly conflicts with and misapplies the rule announced in this Court's decision in U.S.

Concrete Pipe Co. v. Bould, 437 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1983), and the Second District's decision in Two M Dev. Corp. v. Mikos, 578

So.2d 829 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). This Court has jurisdiction under Art. 3, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

These cases stand for the same basic proposition: On remand from an interlocutory appeal, litigants are precluded from

raising rulings on questions of law actually presented,

considered, and decided in the former appeal. U.S. Concrete, 437

So.2d at 1063; Two M, 578 So.2d at 830. This is based on the

doctrine of "law of the case," which is allied to res judicata

but addresses repeated rulings on the same issue within the same

action. See Barry Hinnant, Inc. v. Spottswood, 481 So.2d 80, 82

(Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

<u>U.S. Concrete</u> involved an automobile accident caused by the negligence of **U.S.** Concrete's employee. 437 So.2d at 1062. The jury awarded plaintiffs \$800,000 in punitive damages. However, the jury did not specify whether **U.S.** Concrete was vicariously liable, or whether liability arose from negligent hiring of **U.S.** Concrete's employee, <u>Id</u>. at 1063. The defendants filed a postjudgment interlocutory appeal challenging the excessiveness of the jury' verdict.

On remand, defendants challenged whether they could legally be vicariously liable for punitive damages. <u>Id</u>. Plaintiffs claimed that defendants were precluded from raising this issue because it was not raised in the prior appeal regarding punitive damages. This Court disagreed: "The doctrine of law of the case is limited to rulings on questions of law actually presented and considered on a former appeal." <u>Id</u>.

Similarly, in  $\underline{\text{Two M}}$ , the plaintiff challenged a tax assessment on two grounds: (1) that the property was not

<sup>3</sup> Indeed, the two terms appear to sometimes be confused. See Barry Hinnant, 481 So.2d at 82. The Third District in this case also misidentified the appropriate doctrine.

substantially completed at the time of the assessment, and (2) that even if the property was substantially completed, the assessment was still excessive under the statutory criteria. 578 So.2d at 830. The court ruled the property was not substantially completed. That judgment was reversed on appeal.

The trial court ruled on remand that it had no jurisdiction to consider the excessiveness of the assessment. Id. On appeal, the Second District noted that the first appeal did not address the propriety of the assessment as substantially completed property. Id. at 830-31. Essentially, it was only after the first appeal that the issue of the assessment of substantially completed property could properly be addressed. The Second District reversed because "the doctrine of law of the case applies only to issues that were actually considered and decided on a former appeal." Id.

On the face of the Third District's opinion in this case, it is clear that two different issues were raised in the first and second motions for summary judgment, which formed the basis for the first and second appeals. The first involved the "`unrelated works'" exception" to workers' compensation immunity and the second involved lack of "allegations and proof of the supervisor's criminal negligence." <u>Juliano II</u>. These two issues are based on different facts and different sentences in the statute. <u>See</u> § 440.11(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). The second issue was neither presented, considered, nor decided in the first appeal.

This Court in <u>U.S. Concrete</u> ruled that even though the prior

appeal addressed **one** aspect of punitive damages, the defendants could raise **a** different claim regarding punitive damages on remand. Yet, the Third District ruled that because DOT unsuccessfully appealed one aspect of workers' compensation immunity, it could not raise "any aspect" of workers' compensation immunity. <u>Juliano 11</u>. Moreover, as in <u>Two M</u>, the issue raised on remand in this case could not properly be addressed until the issue raised in the first appeal was decided. There was no point in addressing the higher standard for claims against supervisors if workers' compensation law completely barred the suit. These results cannot be reconciled.

The court cited its decision in <u>Thomas v. Perkins</u>, 723 So.2d 293, 294 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), for the proposition that "appellant is precluded from raising any issues which were or should have been raised on first appeal." <u>Juliano II</u>. This proposition expressly and directly conflicts with the rule announced in <u>U.S.</u>

<u>Concrete</u> and <u>Two M.</u> The Third District's opinion modifies the rule to preclude from consideration issues that theoretically "should have been raised" on the first appeal.

Thus, the Third District's decision in this case directly conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Second District.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review this case.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION TO RESOLVE
THE QUESTIONS OF THE PROPER SCOPE OF LAW OF THE CASE
AND THE PROPER NEGLIGENCE STANDARD UNDER WORKERS'
COMPENSATION FOR FELLOW-EMPLOYEES WHO ARE SUPERVISORS.

This case raises two significant issues with **broad** and disturbing ramifications. First, the Third District's decision

highlights the conflict in Florida law on the proper scope of law of the case and <u>res iudicata</u>. Second, this case presents the first opportunity for this Court to interpret the statutory provisions in § 440.11(1) relating to fellow-employees acting in a "managerial or policymaking capacity."

First, this Court should take this opportunity to clarify the scope of the doctrine of law of the case. U.S. Concrete followed an earlier decision in Greene v. Massey, 384 So.2d 24, 27 (Fla. 1980), which held that a lower court "may in subsequent proceedings pass on issues which have not necessarily been determined or become the law of the case."

However, prior to these decisions, this Court decided Airvac, Inc. v. Ranser Ins. Co., 330 So.2d 467 (Fla. 1976). In Airvac, the plaintiff lost at trial, but successfully appealed the verdict. This Court ruled that the defendant's failure to cross-appeal the denial of leave to amend the answer precluded amendment after the first appeal. Id. at 469. Thus in Airvac, this Court precluded consideration of issues not actually or necessarily considered in the first appeal.

This Court's most recent opinions on law of the case do not cite <u>Airvac</u> or <u>U.S. Concrete</u> for law of the case, so this conflict remains unresolved. <u>See Holder v. Keller Kitchen</u>

Law of the case or <u>res judicata</u> in this case was the basis for the trial court's and Third District's decisions below. In its briefs to the Third District, DOT challenged the trial court's ruling **and** discussed the interpretation of both applicable sentences of § 440.11(1), which shows that the issue of supervisor liability was not at issue in the first appeal. The propriety of applying this law of the case or <u>res iudicata</u> was also expressly addressed at oral argument.

Cabinets, 610 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 1992); Wells Fargo Armored Servs.

Corp. v. Sunshine Sec. & Detective Agency, 575 So.2d 179 (Fla.

1991); see generally Raymond T. Elligett, Jr. & Charles P.

Schropp, Law of the Case Revisited, Fla.Bar J. 48 (March 1994).

Second, this case presents a significant issue of workers' compensation law of first impression for this Court. The trial court's and Third District's decisions reflect an improper interpretation of § 440.11(1). Under § 440.11(1), workers' compensation benefits are an exclusive remedy and are "in place of all other liability of" employers. Employees of the same employer also receive immunity. Id. However, the injured employee may sue fellow-employees who "are assigned primarily to unrelated works." Id.

In <u>Holmes County Sch. Bd. v. Duffell</u>, 651 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1995), this Court ruled that this "unrelated works" exception should be read <u>in pari materia</u> with § 768.8(9) (a), Fla. Stat., which requires that all actions for negligence of public employees be maintained against the government employer. Therefore, in cases of governmental employees involved in unrelated works, the agency may be sued as a surrogate defendant. Id. at 1179. <u>Duffell</u> was the basis for the Third District's decision in Juliano I. 664 So.2d 77.

<u>Duffell</u>, however, did not involve the alleged negligence of a manager or supervisor. Therefore, this Court did not have occasion to address the next sentence of § 440.11(1) which **provides** a higher standard of negligence when the fellow-employee is a "sole proprietor, partner, corporate officer or director, supervisor, or other person who in the course and scope of his or her duties acts in a managerial or policymaking capacity." Under this provision, a supervisor cannot be held liable unless his or her conduct rose to the level of criminal negligence. See § 440.11(1); see also Subileau v. Southern Forming, Inc., 664 So.2d 11 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). As fellow-employees of any category generally share the employer's workers' compensation immunity, see § 440.11(1), the additional provision must only apply when the supervisory employee is engaged in "unrelated work."

This distinction between average and supervisory employees simply makes sense. Agency or corporate employers only function through their officers, directors, or other supervisory personnel. Thus, suit against supervisory personnel is essentially a suit against the employer itself.

That type of double recovery against the employer is precisely what the workers' compensation scheme is designed to avoid. Without this distinction, the exception would essentially swallow the rule, <u>i.e.</u>, **a** plaintiff could avoid workers' compensation immunity simply by suing those in control of the agency or corporate employer for personal negligence.

The higher standard of negligence applicable to supervisory employees appears to represent a compromise, balancing the policies underlying workers' compensation immunity with the rights of injured employees. The legislature permitted injured employees to sue supervisors personally, but only if their actions were so egregious as to constitute criminal negligence. Moreover, where the employer is a governmental agency, like the

DOT, this higher standard becomes even more significant because recovery will be against the agency itself.

In this case, the rulings of the trial court and Third District resulted in improper double recovery. There were neither allegations nor proof of criminal negligence. Yet all the DOT employees ultimately claimed by the plaintiff to have been negligent were supervisors. The trial court should have granted DOT's second motion for summary judgment, and motions for directed verdict on that ground. Moreover, the trial court also denied the defense requested jury instruction based on the supervisor provision of § 440.11(1). Therefore, the jury in this case did not determine liability based on the proper standard.

Thus, it is important that this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review this case and resolve the conflict created by the Third District's decision and clarify the underlying law involved in this case.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to exercise its jurisdiction and resolve the conflict presented by the Third District's decision in this case.