IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX FEB 1 1 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY DU

CASE NO.: SC99-153 LT CASE NO.: 93-20647-CA-18

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

VS.

ANGELO JULIANO,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

L. Barry Keyfetz, Esquire
FL Bar #: 042658
KEYFETZ, ASNIS & SREBNICK, P.A.
Attorneys for Respondent
44 W. Flagler St., Suite 2400
Miami, Florida 33 130
(305) 358-1740

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE & STYLE

The type size and style of the Brief 14 point Times New Roman.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Juliano was a correctional officer employed by the Florida Department of Corrections (DOC). While so employed **as** a correctional officer by the DOC, he was at a facility maintained and operated by the Florida Department of Transportation (DOT). Respondent Juliano tripped and fell, alleging negligence by employees of DOT.

Complaint by Juliano against DOT was filed December 10, 1993. After several years of litigation, Petitioner sought summary judgment in connection with workers' Compensation immunity defense, focusing on the Unrelated Works Doctrine. The trial court rejected Petitioner's position, from which Petitioner elected to file an interlocutory appeal. The District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision denying the workers' Compensation immunity defense citing this Court's decision in Holmes County School Board v. Duffel, 65 1 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1995). Florida Dept, of Transp. v. Juliano, 664 So.2d 77 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995). Ultimately, the cause proceeded to trial in December, 1997 resulting in a jury verdict in favor of plaintiff in the net amount of \$402,500.00. (Appx. 1).

From that judgment, Petitioner sought review by the Third District Court of Appeal. After securing numerous delays in connection with preparation of briefs and

agreed in the appellate court and in its brief submitted to this Court that the interlocutory appeal focused on the "Unrelated Works" Doctrine. (Brief of Petitioner p. 1). That is the very same issue Petitioner sought to re-raise and then says it added a different "spin" in their second appeal, claiming workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law.

After oral argument, by opinion rendered in July, 1999, the District Court affirmed the final judgment. From that order Petitioner filed Motion for Rehearing, Clarification, Certification and Rehearing En Banc, all of which were denied. (Appx. 6).

Petitioner now seeks to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.'

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner elected to proceed with interlocutory appeal, raising workers'

^{&#}x27;First sought more than fifteen months after filing Notice of Appeal which followed four lengthy extensions pertaining to Appellant's initial brief until the Court advised if not finally filed, the appeal would be subject to dismissal, (**Appx.** 2-5)

²It is noted that Petitioner takes the position that once **the** threshold of \$100,000.00 is reached, (judgment, interest and costs in any combination) then there **is** no further obligation **and** every day of delay in payment simply redounds to the benefit of Petitioner. *So* long as the benefit of the delay is equal to or in excess **of** the defense fees generated, there is then a substantial economic benefit to Petitioner and their counsel in generating further delays. This case, so far, involved five years delay at the trial level and another two years at the District Court of Appeal level. While the case pends before this Court on request this Court take jurisdiction, Petitioners equally take the position - with trial court approval - that unlike other litigants who need to obtain a stay, the State can further delay and need not pay the judgment. (Appx. **7**).

compensation immunity, focusing on the Unrelated **Works** Doctrine. Any argument about the standard of care before that doctrine is operational is part and parcel of that issue, and could have and should have been made in the first appeal. The District Court rejected Petitioner's contention as to the inapplicability of the Unrelated **Works** Doctrine citing this Court's decision in Holmes County School Board v. Duffel, supra. There is no express and direct conflict with the two cases cited by Petitioner in that the second appeal in those cases involved different issues that were not even ripe at the time of the first appeal. Further, Petitioner's merits argument that the Unrelated Works Doctrine is not applicable unless there is a showing of criminal negligence by employees in the unrelated works is contrary to this Court's decision in Holmes County School Board v. Duffel, supra.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

ARE THE CASES CITED BY PETITIONER OF <u>U.S.</u>
<u>CONCRETE PIPE CO. v. BOULD</u> AND <u>TWO M DEV.</u>
<u>CORP. v. MIKOS</u>, IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT
CONFLICT WITH THE DISTRICT COURT DECISION
HEREIN JUSTIFYING THIS COURT TAKING
JURISDICTTON?

The case of Two M Dev. Corp. v. Mikos, 578 So.2d 829 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991) involved an initial appeal wherein the Court reversed the trial court determination that the property was not substantially completed. The cause was remanded for the trial

court to consider the assessment. The trial court, upon remand, refused to consider the assessment, contending the issue was foreclosed. However, as the District Court held and Petitioner acknowledges in its brief, "it was only after the first appeal that the issue of the assessment of substantially completed property could properly be addressed." (Brief of Petitioners p. 5).

In the pending matter, Petitioner could and did address the issue of workers' compensation immunity, focusing on the Unrelated Works Doctrine. The contention that said doctrine would not apply unless criminal negligence was shown is part and parcel of that issue, and could have and should have been raised in connection therewith. The Court rejected Petitioner's position on workers' compensation immunity citing Holmes County School Board v. Duffel, supra. There is no express and direct conflict with the Mikos case - no conflict at all.

Petitioner argues it can take as many appeals as they want raising workers' compensation immunity as long as they continually raise it with a different "spin". It is suggested Petitioner cannot, but the Court need not even address that aspect. That is because what it claims to be a different argument from that raised in the first *Summary* Judgment, was, in fact, part and parcel of the Unrelated Works Doctrine on which they admittedly focused. Petitioner's "merits" argument as to why this Court should take jurisdiction is that the Unrelated Works Doctrine involves a higher

standard to be triggered (supposedly criminal negligence) - but supposedly there was no need to talk about that aspect in initially "focusing" on the Unrelated Works Doctrine in their initial appeal. (Brief of Petitioner p. 1, 7-9).

There is no direct and express conflict - nor any conflict at all - with the only other case cited by Petitioner, U.S. Concrete Pipe Co_v. Bould, 437 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1983). That case, according to its facts involved a post-judgment interlocutory appeal involving the excessiveness of the punitive damage award. That case does not stand for the proposition, as contended by Petitioner in the pending matter, that a party can raise the legal issue of excessiveness as many times as they want, as long as there is a different "spin" each time. There, the parties were not foreclosed from later challenging obligation of the insured or the insurance company to pay the punitive damages. That is because, in that case, that issue was not previously presented or even ripe. On the contrary, in the pending matter, the workers' compensation immunity defense was, of course, presented on appeal - and even Petitioners concede they "focused" on the Unrelated Works Doctrine. (Brief of Petitioners p. 1). Petitioner's "additional" argument is that before it is triggered there is a higher standard than regular negligence, higher than even gross negligence, but supposedly only triggered upon showing of criminal negligence.

To whatever extent Petitioners are "serious" about such a position - as

distinguished from maintaining spurious proceedings simply with a view toward delay in payment - Petitioners could have and should have raised that in the first appeal, if they did not.

This Court lacks jurisdiction in that there is hardly the requisite "express" and "direct" conflict required for this Court to take jurisdiction. See <u>Bondurant v. Geeker</u>, 5 15 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1987); see <u>Paddock v. Chacko</u>, 553 So.2d 168 (Fla. 1989).

POINT IT

WHETHER PETITIONER'S MERITS ARGUMENT IS SPURIOUS SO THAT, EVEN IF JURISDICTION LAY, THIS COURT SHOULD NOT EXERCISE SAME.

Petitioner's "merits" argument was and is that any supervisory-managerial employee, even in unrelated works, are immune - that supposedly the **1988** amendment to **§440.11(1)** was intended to change the Unrelated Works Doctrine. However, this Court, in Eller v. Shova, **630 So.2d 537** (Fla. **1993**) discusses from the legislative history the reason for the 1988 amendment stating:

As a result of our decision in <u>Streeter</u>, in **1988** the legislature again amended §440.11(1). <u>Eller v. Shova</u>, supra p. 540.

In <u>Streeter v. Sullivan</u>, 509 So.2d **268** (Fla. 1987), this Court held under the statutory language that corporate officers, executives **and** supervisors of one's own employer ("the same works") could be sued for gross negligence. The amendment, as noted by

this Court, was to change that - had nothing to do with the Unrelated Works Doctrine. The Unrelated Works Doctrine simply establishes employees of a large conglomerate employer (e.g. State of Florida) will be given no lesser rights than other employees - they may maintain suits, upon satisfying the Unrelated Works Doctrine, just as if they worked for different companies. Even without the enhanced standard in the 1988 amendment, the requisite standard to sue a fellow employee was "gross" negligence. The plaintiff in <u>Duffel</u> did not satisfy the previous lesser standard (gross negligence), but, of course, did not have to do so. That is because the then gross negligence standard, now enhanced to criminal negligence, pertains only to employees of an employer "in the same works". Where an employee of an unrelated works is involved just like a different company - then the standard is simple negligence - otherwise, even with the pre-1988 lesser standards of gross negligence, **Duffel** would have failed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is submitted there is no express and direct conflict permitting this Court to take jurisdiction. Further, Petitioners' "merits" contention is spurious - plaintiff Duffel, well after adoption of the 1988 amendment, nevertheless was permitted to sue an employee in unrelated works for ordinary negligence. Holmes County School Board v. Duffel, supra.